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THE HISTORY OF THE CATHOLICON OF THE
ATHONITE MONASTERY OF SIMONOPETRA UNTIL
THE 19" CENTURY BASED ON WRITTEN SOURCES"

PHOKION KOTZAGEORGIS — MONK KOSMAS SIMONOPETRITIS

Abstract.— The paper examines all the extant sources (documents,
narrative sources, the archaeological remnants etc), regarding the catholicon of
Simonopetra monastery on Mount Athos. The research tries to suggest a highly
probable hypothesis for the chronological phases of the monument, both for the
construction (or reconstruction) and the painting. The changes in the church might
have taken place in the late medieval and early modern period, beginning with
the construction of the church by the Serbian despot Jovan Ugljesa in the second
half of 14" century. Three disastrous fires in 1580, 1622 and 1891 have heavily
affected the history of the building. The recent restoration works reveal some
pieces of wall-paintings, which help us to date a crucial phase for the history of
the building in the second half of the 16" century.

The present state of the catholicon of the Athonite monastery of Simonopetra
does not easily reveal its history to the visitor. Before the recent restoration works
have been started, architects had suggested that the church dates from the “early
Tourkokratia” (i.e. ca. 1600), basing their assumption only on the external struc-
ture of the building.! The attempt to find the date of the construction of a build-
ing and its phases in the Ottoman period is a difficult task, because of the fires.
Simonopetra’s church has suffered three such fires (in 1580, 1622, 1891) with the
latter being the most destructive. Apart from the architectural form of the building,
the dating of the preserved church’s frescoes would be also helpful for the dating
of the whole building. However, the only wall paintings remaining today from
earlier phases are those on the two small domes of prothesis and diakonikon and a

* A version of this paper is delivered at the 5"  thank Dr. Florin Marineskou for giving us the
International Congress of Mount Athos Center  permission to use the unpublished summaries
(Aghioreitiki Estia) in Thessaloniki, November  f his book (with D. Nastase) on the Rumanian
2010. We would express our gratitude to the
hegumen of the monastery of Simonopetra, Ar-
chimandrite Elissaios, for allowing us to do the 1 P. Theocharidis, I arhitektoniki tis monis, in:
research in the archive of the monastery. We also ~ Simonopetra — Aghion Oros, Athens 1991, 79.

documents of Simonopetra.



fragment on a niche of the northern wall of the nave. Those paintings, according
to the art historians, originated from the artistic workshops of the famous painters
Theophanes the Crete or Tzortzis and, therefore, they can be dated from the mid-
16" century.?

Due to the above-mentioned fires, especially the first two, the written evidences
in the monastery (i.e. documents, manuscripts) had been disappeared. Thus, the
researcher who wants to work on the building history of the catholicon, he has
to depend mostly either on the extant sources of the monastery albeit from a later
period or on some earlier ones that can be found in other monasteries and archives.
The aim of this paper is to examine the already known, but unpublished and little
exploited written sources and to set the principal questions on the history of the
Simonopetra catholicon to be answered by architects and art historians.

THE BYZANTINE PERIOD

Simonopetra presumably had a small church (vaickoc) at the period of its founda-
tion, but we know nothing about that building. For the existence of a church in the
period of the founder of the monastery St. Simon, his vita should have informed
us. However, in both of the two known versions of St. Simon’s vita, it is mentioned
that the saint attempted to build first a church and then the other buildings of the
Monastery.> The respective passages are written in the part of the vita which is
considered by the scholars authentic; therefore, we can suggest that a similar pas-
sage existed in the Byzantine vifa as well, which was compiled by the monk Isaiah
in the second half of the 14™ century. The construction of the first church of the
monastery might be dated at the second half of the 13" century, when Saint Simon
founded the monastery.* The late Professor Pavlos Mylonas, who evaluated the

2 N. Toutos — G. Fousteris, Evretirion tis mni-
meiakis zografikis tou Aghiou Orous, 10°—17%
aionas, Athens 2010, 365-67.

3 Two passages imply the existence of a church
before the other monastic buildings had been erect-
ed. a. 'O 6¢ 6o10g TpATOV PV delyvel gig avToNg
Tov tomov Omov €Podreto Vo Ogpeldon TV
"Exidnoiav, &nerta koi v €niloutov oikodopnv;
b. 0 8¢ moThp Tyaiver, deiyvel TOV TOTOV €i¢ aNTODG
Kol To0¢ €ovvtuyoivel, TP@TO VO KTiGouLy TOV
vadv, Tp@dTo. TV EKKANGIaV, DOTEPO. TV TEPLOYIV
koo dxorovdiov. The Vita of saint Simon, the
founder of Simonopetra, as it is noted in its title
in the first publication of it (cuyypopeig pév vmod
"Hoaiiov povoyod, petaypoageig 6¢ Hd Nukneopov
‘Tepopoviyov Xiov), was written by monk Isaiah,
which is identified with the well-known Serbian
Hesychast monk Isaiah, a person who had close
relations with the so-called “second founder of
Simonopetra”, the Serbian despot Jovan Ugljesa.
The text can be dated between 1368 and 1371. As
most of the written sources about the Byzantine
history of the monastery were burnt in the three
fires, the Vita has been preserved only in two later
versions. The first one is Isaiah’s Vifa transcribed
by Nikephoros from Chios (1725-1813) and pub-

lished in Néov Agpovaprov by Makarios Notaras
(Venice 1819). For this version see: I. Tarnanidis,
O vios tou osiou Simona, protou ktitora tis leras
Monis Simonos Petras, in: Hieromonk Ioustinos
Simonopetritis (ed.), Agios Simon o Athoitis, ktitor
tis Simonopetras, Athens 1987, 17-55 (the passage
in p. 44). A second version of the Vita was com-
piled by Kaisarios Dapontes in verse form between
1780 and 1784 and published by Efth. Soulogiannis
(Kaisariou Daponte: Vios kai politeia tou en osio-
is patros imon Simonos, in: Hieromonk Ioustinos
Simonopetritis (ed.), op.cit., 57-78 [the passage in
p. 67, verses 265—69]).

4 This is what I. Tarnanidis concluded after a de-
tailed analysis of the survived saint’s vita (O vios
tou osiou Simona, op.cit., 38-39). This conclu-
sion is confirmed by the mention of Simonopetra
monastery in the Vita of Saint Gregorios Sinaites
(,,moAAGKLG petéforve T Movylog gimep Tig
€pAV mOTE PEV TH| TV ayiov Zipmvog, dniovott
g [étpac, oefacpio povi] mapakadnuevogs...”),
which was written by the Patriarch Kallistos 1%
between 1355 and 1360 (A. Delikari, Aghios
Gregorios o Sinaites, Thessalonike 2004, 199
and 337, who publishes the Vita according to a
manuscript of 15" century ([Lavra I 117]).
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information provided by the traveler loannis Komninos (in 1698) and compared
it with the observation of the topography of the rock of Simonopetra, concludes:
first a chapel had been built on top of the rock by St. Simon and later, around it, de-
veloped the buildings of the monastic complex, respecting and exploiting the mor-
phology of the rock.® Furthermore, a fragment of St. Simon’s vifa under the title
LIlepkomn €k oD Piov tod ayiov Tipmvog, &k Todatod yepoypdeov” (“Fragment
from the vita of Saint Simon [drawn] from an old manuscript”)® gives the infor-
mation that there had been built a catholicon with dome.” Since the topographical
information in the same passage is based on reality, it seems reasonable that the
author of this passage had in his mind a realistic view of the monastery, its place
and its catholicon. Therefore, we suggest that the information on a catholicon with
a dome lays on real ground. The text of this passage is written in the period after
the Ottoman occupation of Mount Athos (i.e. 1423/4), as we surmise from the use
of the Turkish loan-word kubbe (= dome). Since the fragment is found in an au-
thentic version of the vita,* we suppose that it existed in the original (Byzantine)
text as well.’

Information on the building and the renovation projects which had been under-
taken during the Byzantine period is inserted into a patriarchal document (sigil-
lium), issued by the Patriarch of Constantinople Cyril I (Loukaris) in 1622/3. The
document reiterated and verified the text of a chrysobullon issued by the Serbian
governor (despot) of Serres, Jovan Ugljesa (1365-1371) in September 1368,
on the occasion of the renovation of Simonopetra. After the Patriarch’s pream-
ble, the exact copy of the original Byzantine document was transferred to (icov
amapdALoKTOV T0D TPMTOTHTOL €KElvov ¥pLGOPOVLALOYL Ypdupatog), because the
last one was in a lacerated situation due to the passage of time (tfj T00 Kapod
moAvETiQ dteppnyréEVoV kal Temaiaiopévov). We use the information given for the
church in the preamble of the chrysobullon. According to the text, Jovan Ugljesa
wished to have erected various buildings in Simonopetra, as he had done earlier
in other Athonite monasteries. Thus, upon application to the Holy Community of
Mount Athos and acceptance of his proposal by the same administrative body, the
monk Efthymios was sent to buy land for the monastery of Simonopetra outside
the Athonite peninsula and to oversee the construction of buildings within the mon-
astery at the expense of the Serbian ruler. In this case, Ugljesa, the chrysobullon
underlines, “had built and constructed the whole holy monastery, with tower, cells
and all the peripheral buildings, and the church was decorated and painted, and [I]

5 V. G. Barskij, Ta taxidia tou sto Aghion Oros,
1725-1726, 1744—1745, Thessaloniki 2009, 201
(n. 187).

6 This fragment was published for the first time
by the Abbot of Simonopetra Archimandrite
Hieronymos (Akolouthiai tou osiou kai theoforou
patros imon Simonos tou myrovlytou kai tis en Agio
Orei tou Atho leras Monis Simonos Petras, proseti
de kai i akolouthia tis agias endoxou myroforou kai
isapostolou Marias tis Magdalinis, Athens 1924,
113-15) and it was re-published by I. Tarnanidis
(O vios tou osiou Simona, op. cit., 50-52).

7 ,,...x0a1 Ekeyov OtL Kol a0Tog O KOVUTEG TOD
KkabBoAuod Eyet va mapdf] and tov dvepov, Kol

va ppdf) eig 10 Pabog tod Adkkov” (,,and they
thought that even the dome of the catholicon
will be cut off by the strong wind and it will be
thrown down into the deep flume”; 1. Tarnanidis,
op. cit., 52).

8 I. Tarnanidis, op. cit., 28-30, 39.

9 Moreover, for the credibility of the text
speaks another fact. At the same passage of Saint
Simon’s vita it is mentioned that in the western
part of the Monastery and very close to the ca-
tholicon existed a doxaton (Kot mnyaivevtag €ig
16 do&dtov katd t6 dvtucdv uépog; 1. Tarnanidis,
op. cit., 52).



deposit many relics on it, holy icons and books and veils interwoven with gold, and
the whole [church] was covered with lead. [The church] was dedicated to the Jesus
Christ’s Nativity”.!” Therefore, the only important works clearly specified in the
document as carried out by Hieromonk Efthymios concerning the catholicon were
the painting of the church and the coating of its roof with lead.

THE EARLY OTTOMAN PERIOD BEFORE THE FIRE OF 1580

Little is known about the history of the monastery during the first period after the
Ottoman conquest of Mount Athos, since it has survived almost no written sources,
because of the destruction caused by the fire of 1580. The turbulent 15" century,
during which they were not generally observed any building activity in Athonite
peninsula,* seems not to have favored the implementation of building projects in
Simonopetra. This hypothesis is corroborated with information provided by a cir-
cular letter of the 16™ century (see below).

In the early 16 century a new age in monastery’s history begun. According to
the vita of the Neomartyr lakovos the New (+1.11.1519), which is contemporary
with the saint’s era,'? his disciples headed by the later archbishop of Thessaloniki
St. Theonas, during their wanderings after lakovos’ martyrdom in 1519, they had
taken refuge in Simonopetra in 1520. There, they found an almost deserted monas-
tery with only three monks living in it (00 yop TpoGEUEVOV TIVEG LOVOYOL £V 0T,
€l un mov 800 1j TPELG, o1t TO dvoPatov Tod TOTOV Kol TT| EVOeiQ TV COUATIKDV),
who had suffered a lot from Muslim assaults (51 T ivor otV GAOpEVNY VIO
@V aiwv dyapnvdv) and they lacked the necessaries for surviving.!* Because
of this situation, Theonas’ twenty seven disciples after a three-year stay left the
monastery in 1522.2 The impoverishment of the monastery can also be observed
in the only original Greek document preserved in Simonopetra’s archive before
1580. According to this document, in 1516/7 the monks of Kutlumusiou monastery
asked the monks of Simonopetra to move their flocks to Simonopetra’s metochion
on the peninsula of Longos (today Sithonia in Chalkidiki). Simonopetra’s monks
(the hegumen Daniel named Prochoros from the Chilandar’s tower of St. Basil, and
the elders [yépovtec] Nikephoros from Siderokaphsia and Timotheos from Ohrid)
accepted the offer because, as it was underlined in the document, they fear that oth-
erwise their monastery could lose the winter pasture in Longos due to the urgent
economic problems it encountered with.™

10 ,,...avyepe kol Gvokodopncev Gmav To
POV LOVAOTNPIOV, HETO TOPY®V Kol KEAA®V
Kol dlakovnpdtov andviov, kol 1 ékkAnoio
KotekalovOn, kol aviotopndn, kol kepnio
mopmAnOf katebépny év avt), &v te Toig ayiolg
glkoot kai Piiiorg kai TEmlolg ypvooipavTols,
kol Gmoca  Koteoteydobn  poAPois. Kol
kobiepmbn  én’  ovopatt  T@V  yevvebAlmv
Xpiotod...” (D. L. Kasi¢, Despot Jovan Ugljesa
kao ktitor svetogorskog manastira Simonopetre,
Bogoslovlje 20 [1976], 40).

11 With the remarkable exception of Hagios

Pavlos monastery (Pl. Theocharidis, Renewal of

Building Stock. Construction on Mount Athos in

the 15"—16" Centuries, Mount Athos in the 15"
and 16" Centuries, Thessaloniki 2012, 116).

12 Vios kai politeia lakovou tou neou osiomar-
tyros, ed. Chrysopodaritissa Monastery, Athens
2003, 125-29.

13 Vios kai politeia, 271-3, 678, 422-3.
14 Op. cit., 67-8,271-3,276-7, 422-3.

15 Archive of the monastery of Simonopetra:
... ElHECOEY TTOY® TO HOVOGTAPOV Kol TO
Kovthovpodot gompepodoav Kol €rhovtodoay
Kol épofnbnuev 10 Votepva NI YEVN
okavdaAov Kol amo&evobel 6 Tomog Tod xepadiov
GO HOVAGTNPIOV KOl KOAGCOUEV TOG WUYUG
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A turning point for the history of the monastery was the arrival in Simonopetra of
about forty monks during the third decade of the 16™ century, whose place of origin
is unknown. Information on this group can be drawn from a number of letters sent
from the monastery and which were copied in a codex housed in the Patriarchal
Library of Jerusalem.'® All are undated, but due to internal evidences can be dat-
ed in the period 1527-1541. The letters were sent from the monastery to various
persons, secular or religious, mostly to ask for money support. Some of them are
circular letters (apantachouses). Through the analysis of these documents, one can
discern that the monks had planned and tried to realize a general project of resto-
ration of their monastery, in which they planned to undertake some major building
works.

Thus, in a circular letter (apantachousa), signed by the Simonopetra hegumen
Gregorios, it was described the building works the new brotherhood had imple-
mented and those that they were not able to finish yet.!” In this document, there is
particular reference to the group of newcomer monks, who with the help of various
Christians succeeded in implementing some building works. Among these works,
they mentioned the painting of the church (dvekavicOnoav pe v pondelav tod
®eod Kal HE TOG dWPENS TOV ELeNUOVOV XploTiovdY T0 cecabpopéva telyn 10D
KAoTPOL Kol TO KeAAiD Kol O OPOICUOG KOl KOOLOG ThG EKKANoiag, AEym On TO TS
iotopiag).'® From the use of the verb dvexaivicbnoav for the painted decoration,
we can conclude that it concerns not of a new painting of the church, but of the
restoration of the existed frescoes. If it concerned of a new painting, it would use
another verb (e.g. daviotopnon). Obviously these works were completed a short
time before the compilation of the documents. Based on the dating of the letters in
1527-1541, the advent of the new brotherhood after the disciples of St. lakovos the
New had left monastery (1522) and the appearance in other sources as hegumens
of Simonopetra of Dometios in 1527 and Toasaph in 1528, one can argue that the
renovation of the painted decoration had been undertaken between 1529 and 1535.
The works that the new brotherhood had not yet been able to accomplish were
the erection of a hospital, the repair of the aqueduct and the repair of the church’s
lead roof, from which water entered and threatened the newly refurbished frescoes
(ktvdvvevet 1) iotopio ToD Arodelpijval €k Thg TANGHOVIG T®V VOGT™V). For those
works, the monks asked for the assistance of the Christians.

Equally interesting is the information contained in the circular letter that before the
arrival of the newcomers no works had been carried out in the monastery (ék t@®v

nuodv.” Cf. Vamvakas, I. M. Simonos Petra.
Katalogos tou arheiou, Athonika Symmeikta 1
(1985), 130 (no. 29). It is worth mentioning that
the cells of the monastery in 1520 were able to
host at least about thirty monks, because this was
the number of the Saint Iakovos’ disciples (27),
to which there was added the few monks who
still remained in Simonopetra before the new
brotherhood. In the vakifname of 1569 it is men-
tioned that the monastery had thirty six rooms
(oda). Given these evidences in mind, we can
conclude that any construction works which had
been finished by 1567 did not increase the num-
ber of the rooms of the monastery, as these were

at the beginning of the century, or even from the
Byzantine period.

16 It concerns of copies of letters, which have
been found in the Codex 370 and dated from the
middle of 16" century. See: A. Papadopoulos-
Kerameas, lerosolymitiki Viviiothiki, v. 1, Athens
1891, 388-93; Ch. Patrinelis, Istoria. Tourkokratia,
in: Simonopetra-Aghion Oros, Athens 1991, 22;
K. Chrysochoidis, Arheio, 265, where the descrip-
tion of the codex is given.

17 Codex no. 370, f. 219.
18 C. Patrinelis, Op. cit.
19 C. Patrinelis, Op. cit.



TOAULDV Kalp@V OVK Aviyelpev &v avt®d [t povaotnpim] tic). The monks obvi-
ously meant that in the monastery there had not been done restoration works by the
time of its foundation or at least from a long time ago. Based on that phrase one can
suggest that at least by the time of the Ottoman conquest onwards, the monastery
remained in the same form it had during the Byzantine era. More characteristic
was the statement of the monks in another letter to an unnamed person that by
the time of the old founder [of the church] nobody had built even a small piece of
work in the church for its preservation (&m0 yap €keivov T0D TAACIOD KTNTOPOC
0VOEIG BKOBOUNGEY TAEOV €V T vad HKpov Epyov gig Ponbetav).’ Obviously
as “old founder” they meant Jovan UgljeSa, having in mind that he had lived one
hundred and sixty years before this letter was compiled. It is therefore certain that
the painting of the church that was refurbished in 1529-1535, and the damaged
lead roof that had to be repaired were the paintings and lead made under the spon-
sorship of Jovan Ugljesa. So there is sound evidence that between 1527 and 1541
the catholicon constructed or repaired by Jovan Ugljesa’s sponsorship still existed
in Simonopetra.

In another letter of the hegumen Gregorios to an anonymous person®' the plight
of the monastery was described. This situation was even worsened because some
monks were captivated by pirates, and for their redemption the egumen borrowed
4,000 aspers, but he was not able to pay the sum back. Besides, the hegumen asked
for economic support on other works, namely the erection of a hospital and the
construction works in the catholicon. For the latter works the hegumen noted that
the lead of the roof had been destroyed and the frescoes of the church was in dan-
ger due to the raining (ol 10 poAVPdv 10D povastnpiov amo v moivetioy 100
Kopod £pOapm Kol €K TOVG YEWEPIVOLS OUPPOLS Kol DETOVS cuvTivel dmag 6 00Xog
Kol 1) okénn 100 povaotpiov kai kivdvvedet 1) iotopio 10D dmarewpOijvar).?? This
passage indicates that the church of Simonopetra in ca. 1530 was already covered
with lead, it was painted and it had passed a long time, since the roof had been
covered with a lead; this long time span caused problems for waterproofing.?* The
letter does not allow us to conclude if the word ictopia refers to the old frescoes
of the monastery or the refurbished ones. However, the fact that the content of the
letter is almost identical with that in the circular letter and that the letter signed
the same hegumen leads to the suggestion that it was written at the same time with
the circular letter and therefore concerns the renovated frescoes. Moreover, it is
reasonable that the hegumen was more concerned of protecting the new paintings
than the old ones.

Therefore, according to the letters, the situation of the catholicon by the 1530’s
was as follows: between 1370 and 1530 any work for changing the form of the
building or repair of its lead roof, which, due to the passing of more than one hun-
dred and fifty years had started to present waterproofing problems, had not been
undertaken. However, the new brotherhood arrived at the monastery not a long

20 Codex no. 370, f. 168. 22 Codex 370, f. 217v.

23 Itis true that the place of the monastery on the

) ' rock and at the exit of a flume, and of its church
Salonican Doukas Kritopoulos, to whom another o5 the top of the rock are reasons that they are

letter was sent. In that letter, the Simonopetrites  suffered, even today, by intensive weather phae-
asked him to help them for the erection of a hos-  nomena (gales, storms, snowstorms, driving
pital in the monastery (Codex 370, f. 171). Snows etc.).

21 We can suggest that it concerns with the
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time after 1522, and it implemented the refurbishment of the Byzantine frescoes
of the church. Therefore, the catholicon of Simonopetra at around 1530 had two
layers of frescoes, one of the Paleologan period (1365-1371) and one of the early
post-byzantine (around 1530).

Another source, however, sheds new light on the problem. In the second stipules of
the codex no. 115 of the Docheiariou monastery some notes are written.>* Among
these we read the following:

“In 1556/7 the church [of the monastery] of Kastamonitou was built.

In 1561/2 the church [of the monastery] of Docheiariou was built.

At the same year the church [of the monastery] of Simonopetra [was also built].”
(+ (&g [=1556/7] éxticOn 6 vadg 10D KaGTOUOVITOV.

+ Lo [=1561/2] éxticOn tod doyeiapiov 6 vadg.

+ 16 avT® 08¢ £T0g KOl O VaOC TOD GNIUOVOG TETPOC. )

The codex, which Spyridon Lambros described in the Mount Athos manuscripts’
catalogue, dated from the 14" or 15" century. The specific hand of those notes can
be dated from the 18™ century, but its writer probably copied an older one, as it can
be deduced from the use of the chronological system of the creation of the world,
instead of the Jesus Christ’s era, which was exclusively in use in the 18" century.
The above-mentioned note is used by the scholars for the dating of the catholicon
of Docheiariou monastery,? but not for the other two. The information about the
catholicon of Docheiariou is verified by an inscription in the same monastery on
the famous wall-painting of Mother of God “Gorgoypekoos”, where except for the
date of the painting is given the same date as that of the construction of catholicon:
“Mother of God /the Gorgoypekoos/...in the year 7071 (1562-63) /indiction 6%,
when they built the church/ of Docheiariou”.?

Furthermore, in the catholicon of Docheiariou there is an inscription writing that
the church was built and painted in 1568 through the financial assistance of the
Moldavian voevoda Alexander Lapusneanou.?’” For the restoration and/or for the
building of Docheiariou’s catholicon Ottoman permission documents were issued
in the years 1544, 1558, 1559-60, and 1562.% This catholicon, which was restored
or rebuilt in 1561/2, is the present catholicon of the monastery. But according to
the recent study, parts of the Byzantine catholicon of Docheiariou are embodied in
the catholicon of 1561/2. After some destructive events, the Byzantine catholicon

24 For the codex see: S. Lambros, Catalogue Docheiariou, Athens 2001, 169 and 177 (n. 12).
of the Greek Manuscripts on Mount Athos, v. 1,

26 1. M. Docheiariou (ed.),  thavmaturge eik
Cambridge 1895, 250-51 (no. 2789). ocheiariou (ed.), / thavmaturge eikona

tis Panagias Gorgoypekooy, Agion Oros 1999, 5,
25 See for example: P. Touliatos, lera mone 31; Hieromonk Philotheos, I thavmaturge eikona
Docheiariou Agiou Orous: I architektonike tou  tis Panagias Gorgoypekooy, in: Parousia, 198-99.

katholikou kai tou pyrgou, Athens 2009, 21;
P. Touliatos — N. Charkiolakes, Eisagogi stin
arhitektonike kai oikodomike istoria kai erev-
na tou ktiriakou sygkrotimatos tis monis, in:
S. Papadopoulos (ed.), Parousia ieras mones

27 P. Touliatos, op. cit, 21; V. Gonis, Historiko di-
agramma tis Mones Docheiariou, in: Parousia, 57.

28 P. Touliatos, op. cit., 22; V. Demetriades, Ta
othomanika eggrafa, in: Parousia, 255.



was reconstructed and repaired to its present state and form at around 1562—1568,
through the financial support of Moldavian voevodas.”® In any case the note of
the Docheiariou manuscript gives us the exact date of the extended restoration or
building of the catholicon before the wall painting. Once verified for the monastery
of Docheiariou, apparently we should accept that similarly the information on the
cases of Kastamonitou and Simonopetra was true as well.

On the catholicon of Kastamonitou we know that the present church of the mon-
astery was built between 1867 and 1869 and it is the newest of all the catholica
on Mount Athos. It is also known that the whole monastery of Kastamonitou was
reconstructed around 1433 by the Serbian great ¢elnik Radic, after being devastat-
ed and abandoned.*® In 1500, the monks of Kastamonitou obtained by the Ottoman
authorities the permission to restore the church of the monastery. *! According to
Gerasimos Smyrnakis, the present catholicon was built on the bases of three other
(older) catholica, while, according to Kosmas Vlachos, it was erected on the site
of two (successively) older ones.* V. Barskij said that the catholicon was painted,
covered with lead, had four marble white pillars and five domes. Besides the de-
scription, Barskij gives a sketch of the catholicon.** According to Pavlos Mylonas,
Barskij’s decription reminds us of a catholicon of the 14" or 15" century. Mylonas
also argues that Barskij’s observation on the floor “... of white marble had other
colors here and there” supports the hypothesis that the floor was a remnant of a
colorful 11" or 12" century marble floor.>* The same information gives the traveler
Ioannis Komninos in 1698.%° If the note of Docheiariou Monastery is true about
Kastamonitou, its catholicon was rebuilt or restored in 1556/7 on the same site as
the previous one of 1433, built by Radi¢, which was restored in 1500, and it had
been preserved in the 17" and the 18™ centuries, possibly until the rebuilding of
1867.

In the middle of 16™ century, a considerable number of constructions and reno-
vations of churches and other buildings in Mount Athos were undertaken.*® In all
the cases, the sponsorship for the building works attributed to the rulers of the
Danubean principalities. Simonopetra had granted such a granting: the tower of
the monastery port (arsanas) built in 1567 with money of the officer at the court of
the Wallachian voevoda, Oxiotis Aga from Pogoniani of Epirus.”” He was a trust-
worthy person of the Wallachian voevoda Peter the Young (1559-1568) and he

29 P. Touliatos, op. cit., 125.

30 Actes de Kastamonitou, ed. by N. Oikono-
mides, Paris 1978, 6. For this personnage see:

E. A. Zachariadou, The Worrisome Wealth of

the Celnik Radié, in: C. Heywood — C. Imber
(eds), Studies in Ottoman History in Honour of
Professor V. L. Ménage, Istanbul 1994, 383-397.

31 Unpublished Ottoman document of 18-27
July 1500 as it refers in: Actes de Kastamonitou,
9, note 57.

32 See G. Smyrnakis, To Aghion Oros, repr. ed.,
Karyes 1988, 686; K. Vlachos, [ hersonisos tou
Aghiou Orous Atho kai ai en afti monai kai oi
monachoi palai te kai nyn, rept. ed., Thessaloniki
2005, 332.

33 V. Barskij, Ta taxidia, 459.

34 P. Mylonas, Atlas of the Twenty Sovereign
Monasteries, fascicule two: Photographic Do-
cumentation of Landscapes and Monasteries,
Pictorial Dictionary of the Holy Mountain Athos,
vol. 1, part 1, Wasmuth 2000, 338.

35 1. Komninos, Proskynitarion tou Aghiou Oro-
us tou Athonos, repr. of 1st ed. of 1701, Karyes
1984, 104.

36 Except for the particular case of Stavronikita
(new monastery), it should be mentioned the
cases of Xeropotamou and Dionysiou. See: PL
Theocharidis, Renewal of Building Stock, 119-22.

37 For the inscription on the tower of the port of
Simonopetra see: G. Millet — J. Pargoire — L. Petit,
Recueil des inscriptions chrétiennes de |’Athos,
part 1, Paris 1904, 180 (no. 536).
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had financed the restoration of other monastic building complexes in the Ottoman
lands.*® The question is if Oxiotis could be the financier for the restoration / rebuild-
ing of the catholicon of Simonopetra in 1561/2. This seems to be doubtful, because
Oxiotis was at his post in the years 1567/8* and it is not sure if he was able to
undertake the sponsorship of such an expensive restoration programme at 1561/2.

During the reign of voevoda Peter the Young (1558—1568) Simonopetra was do-
nated the metochion of Saint Nicholas close to Bucharest, which was closely re-
lated to other two rich and powerful personalities in Wallachia, the great postelnic
Gheorma (1564-1568) and the Vlach noblewoman Caplea. Gheorma, an Epirote
from the village Dipalitsa of Pogoniani, donated to Simonopetra the metochion of
Saint Nicholas in Bucharest between 1564 and 1568. From the Rumanian docu-
ments of Simonopetra reveals that the metochion of Saint Nicholas in Bucharest
was initially a metochion of Bolintin monastery and Gheorma changed its dedica-
tion from Bolintin to Simonopetra.

Caplea, according to Simonopetra’s Rumanian documents, was the daughter of
parcalamp Diikul and the wife of parcalamp Badea, with whom she had two
children, Petrasko and Stanko. Her brother was the great medelnicear Radul.*’
In a letter of 1549 she appears as nun with the name Theodora.** She was men-
tioned as Gheorma’s “sister according to the Holy Gospel” (“chcTpo mo cBaron
Eanrernie”), i.e. she was his “sworn sister”.* Caplea also appeared to be the
founder of the metochion of Simonopetra in Bucharest during the ruling of Peter
the Young (1558-1568). If this is correct, Caplea would have been a great benefac-
tor of Simonopetra, who could also finance the construction works in the catholi-
con and in other parts of the monastery.

In fact, Caplea appears in the Simonopetra documents after 1570, as having donat-
ed her landed property to Simonopetra during the ruling of Peter the Young (1558—

38 Around 1567-1568 Oxiotis financed the
restoration of the catholicon of Geromeriou
Monastery in Epirus and became the new ktitor
of the monastery. Due to Oxiotis’s cure Peter the
Young gave his approval for an annual fee of one
thousand aspers for Geromeriou Monastery and
the Patriarch of Constantinople Metrophanes
recognized it as stavropegium. For all this ac-
tivity Oxiotis reasonably was recognized by
the Patriarch Metrophanes as a new ktitor of
Geromeri. See: P. Evangelou, Allilographia tou
Patriarheiou Konstantinoupoleos me ti Mone
Geromeriou Thesprotias kata ti metavyzantini
kai neoteri periodo, unpubl. PhD diss., Athens
2010, 43, 84-95; L. Vranousis, Geromeriou
Mone, in: Thriskeftiki kai Ithiki Enkyklopaideia,
vol. 4, University of Athens 1964, 496-502. On
the southern part of the catholicon of Geromeriou
Monastery there is an inscription: “ETOYC ,{og
OZEHOTH ITOI'ONIANT{]TH” (1567/8).

39 P. Evangelou, op. cit., 91.

40 D. Nastase — Fl. Marineskou, Roumanika
eggrafa, documents no 22 (of 1545), 23 (1546).
The genealogy of Caplea is confirmed by the

documents of the Vlach Rulers which certified
the donations of landed property of Caplea to
the monastery of Saint Nicholas in Bucharest.
According to these documents were enregis-
tered in diptycha of the monastery by zoupanesa
Caplea twelve names of herself, her parents and
other cognates- several of them can be identified:
zoupanesa Caplea, Visa, Diikul (in the translation:
Dintzoul) = Caplea’s father, Stanka = her mother,
Vaden = husband, Petraskos = son, Rados = broth-
er, Stankos = son, Stoika, Neksa, Draganos and
Caplea. From the several copies of these docu-
ments with the twelve names I used a Greek trans-
lation (19" century) of a chrysobullon of Voevoda
Alexander 2™ with supposed date 5.3.7085 (1577)
from the Rumanian archive of Simonopetra.

41 D. Nastase — Fl. Marineskou, op. cit., no 27.

42 P. Zahariuc, Sora dupa Sfdnta Evangile.
Note despre neamul jupdanesei Caplea si de-
spre mandstirea Sfantul Nicolae din Bucuresti,
ctitoria lui Ghiorma banul, Studii si Materiale
de Istorie Medie 25, 83; A. Falangas, Présences
grecques dans les Pays roumains (XIVe—-XVle
siecles), Bucarest 2009, 227.



1568), for twelve names of herself and her cognates could commemorated in the
diptycha of the monastery.* Her landed property was donated to Simonopetra’s
metochion of Saint Nicholas, where Caplea, according to some documents, was
buried.* Judging from the Rumanian documents of Simonopetra, it is not testi-
fied that Caplea had direct relationship with Simonopetra. On the contrary, it is
documented that she had relationships only with Bolintin monastery. The mon-
astery of Saint Nicholas in Bucharest was initially a metochion of Bolintin built
by Domna Anka, mother of voyvoda Vlad the Drawn (1530-2). Caplea’s father,
parcalamp Diikul, had donated to Bolintin metochion the one third of a mill dam
in 1532.% Also a part of landed property donated by Caplea to the monastery of
Saint Nicholas was in Dragomiresti, where the monastery of Bolintin had landed
property since 1453.% Therefore, in all likelihood Caplea continued her father’s
benefactions to Bolintin monastery, by donating her landed property before her
death. She was buried in the monastery of Saint Nicholas, which was still meto-
chion of Bolintin and her son Petrasco in Bolintin monastery.*” When Gheorma
changed the dedication of the metochion from Bolintin to Simonopetra, all her
landed property donated from her to Bolintin passed to Simonopetra and Caplea
started to be considered ktitor of Simonopetra’s metochion. A long trial started be-
tween the two monasteries (Bolintin and Simonopetra) about the landed property
of the metochion of Saint Nicholas donated by Caplea,*® which was ended in 1626
by the subordination of Bolintin monastery to Simonopetra as metochion.*

From the above mentioned analysis we can conclude that is not proved that
Simonopetra had accepted any donation from Wallachia until the dedication
of the metochion of Saint Nicholas by Gheorma between 1564 and 1568. The
first Rumanian documents explicitly mentioned Simonopetra dated from 1572.%°
Taking into account that during the period of the restoration works in catholicon

43 In later documents Caplea appeared to do- Roma 1986, 228.
nate her landed property directly to Simonopetra.

o . . 45 D. Nastase — F1. Marineskou, op. cit., no 16.
This is mentioned, for example, in a sigillion of astase arteskeou, op. cit., no

the Patriarch Jeremiah II on March of 1590 (D.
Vamvakas, lera moni Simonos Petras, no 3),
which confirmed the donation of villages and
land by Kaplea: ,,Tovtov pio kol €§ dyevdv
gthyyavev odoa 1 Tyuot(é)t(n) wopio Kdamha
... 0éov Ekprve N GUOPOV KOTOMTEY Kod TNV
Tod ayiov Zipovog [1€tpag povny €k T@v avti|g
KTNUATOV T€ Kol Tpaypdtav... . But in the ear-
liest and more authentic sources, that is a parch-
ment of Peter Junior (8" April of 1564—1568, see
D. Nastase — Fl. Marineskou, op. cit., no 763),
as ktitor of the monastery of Saint Nicholas, on
the river Dampovitsa, appears the great postelnic
Gheorma (see also A. Falangas, op. cit., 227).
This conclusion is confirmed by the fact that in
the Rumanian documents of Simonopetra the
monastery of Saint Nicholas is called “meto-
chion / monastery of postelnic / banos Gheorma”
(D. Nastase — F1. Marineskou, op. cit., no. 59 [of
1577], no 68 [1582], 75 [1586], 78, 79 [1587],
104 [1595]) but never “of Caplea”.

44 D. Nastase — F1. Marineskou, op.cit., no 763;
P. Nasturel, Le Mont Athos et les Roumains,

46 D. Nastase — Fl. Marineskou, op. cit., no 3.
It is interesting that in this letter of 1453 it is
mentioned that the landed property of Bolintin
monastery in Dragomiresti was “close to riv-
er Dampovitza”, where also the metochion of
Saint Nicholas is mentioned to be. It seems pos-
sible that the metochion of Saint Nicholas was
built by Domna Anka in Bolintin’s property in
Dragomiresti close to river Dampovitza.

47 P. Nasturel, Le Mont Athos, 228.

48 For example, in a Greek translation of
a chrysobullon of Voevoda Radu Serban of
24.1.1604 from the Rumanian archive of
Simonopetra is mentioned that the abbot and the
monks of Simonopetra had a dispute with the
monks of Bolintin monastery, when the last ar-
gued to Voevoda Radu that the above mentioned
landed property was dedicated by zoupanesa
Caplea to Bolintin monastery.

49 D. Nastase — Fl. Marineskou, op. cit., no 179.
50 D. Nastase — F1. Marineskou, op. cit., no 48.
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(1561/2) Gheorma was not yet great postelnic, it is difficult to attribute to him the
sponsorship of the above mentioned restoration works. It is also certain that the
voevoda Peter the Young affirmed Gheorma’s dedication to Simonopetra between
1564 and 1568 by a chrysovoullon.® But the first voevoda who sponsored directly
Simonopetra was Peter the Lame in 1587 who gave to the monastery a sum of
5,400 aspers.”> Based on the aforementioned, the hypothesis® that the construc-
tions works in Simonopetra’s catholicon in 1561/2 were implemented with money
from Danubian principalities could not be confirmed by the extant documents.

Furthermore, we suppose that an extended rebuilding of Simonopetra’s catholicon
in 1561/2 with strong financial support from Wallachia would be followed at least
by a ktitorial inscription, taking into account that in other monasteries except for
inscriptions were painted also the donators with their families.>* Despite the fact
that several travellers passed from Simonopetra and described the monastery and
its catholicon, no one mentioned any ktitorial inscription of 1561/2 or any con-
struction works in it under the sponsorship of Wallachian princes, as they did in
most of other Athonite monasteries. Taking into account that loannis Komninos
has a detailed description of Simonopetra and its catholicon in 1701, it seems very
strange that he would fail to mention a ktirorial inscription or painting of 1561/2 in
it.% Moreover, in the written sources or the oral tradition of the monastery does not
seem to survive any evidence on the restoration of the catholicon and the sponsor-
ship for it. In the ktitorial diptycha of Simonopetra are registered about fifty names
of benefactors from Wallachia, but no one could be identified with an important

sponsor from the period under consideration.>®

51 In the above mentioned Greek translation of
the chrysobullon (5.3.1577) from the Rumanian
archive of Simonopetra, voevoda Alexander the
2" mentions that “for the departed Peter Voevoda
also dedicated to the above mentioned Holy
Monastery all the afore-mentioned villages and
landed property of zoupanesa Caplea”. In the let-
ter of the Patriarch Jeremiah II of March of 1590
affirming the donations of Caplea (D. Vamvakas,
lera Moni Simonos Petras, no 3), it is mentioned
that she dedicated her property to Simonopetra
by a chrysobull of loannis Petros Voevoda.

52 D. Nastase — F1. Marineskou, op. cit., no 76.

53 See P. Koufopoulos, Nea stoiheia gia tin
oikodomiki drastiriotita in Moni Simonos Petras
kata ton 160 aiona, in the Summaries of the
papers for the International Congress Mount
Athos in 15" and 16" century, Thessaloniki —
Agioreitiki Estia, 25-27.11.2011, who speaks
about “an extended construction project spon-
sored by donations coming from Wallachia”.
Except for this summary, no other text was
included in the forthcoming volume of the
Proceedings of the Congress.

54 In Dionysiou’s and Docheiariou’s cathol-
ica for example Peter Rares and Alexander
Lapousneanou respectively are painted with
their families and a ktitorial inscription survives
where they are called as “Ktitor of this Holy

Monastery” (KTHTQP THC ATTAC MONHC
TAYTHC), see: lera Mone Dionysiou, Oi toiho-
grafies tou katholikou, Agion Oros 2003, 28-29;
Ath. Paliouras, Oi toihografies tou katholikou,
in: Parousia, 304-305.

55 See his references in the description of the
monasteries Dionysiou, Xeropotamou, Koutlo-
umousiou, Zographou, Docheiariou, Agiou
Pavlou, Xenophontos, Philotheou, where he also
mentions that the Moldavian or Wallachian vo-
evodas are painted in the churches as ktitors. See
also his note: “But I didn’t want to miss neither
the names of the ktitors of each monastery nei-
ther of the other people who partially helped them
or made a good work to them” (I. Komninos,
Proskynitarion tou Agiou Orous, repr. of 1% ed.,
Agion Oros 1984, 27).

56 It is clear that Michael the Brave (Ban of
Wallachia) possesses the first place among the
voevodas of the Danubian Principalities and the
second among all the benefactors of the monas-
tery after the Serbian despot Jovan Ugljesa. The
reason is that he built in Bucharest from the foun-
dations in 1591 a new church of Saint Nicholas
as a metochion of Simonopetra, because the pre-
vious metochion dedicated by Gheorma was at
a very marshy place (because of its neighbour-
hood to the river Dampovitsa). Caplea’s name
is also registered among the above mentioned



In the case of Docheiariou monastery the note of the manuscript no. 115 gives us
the date of the reconstruction of its collapsed Byzantine catholicon, parts of which
were embodied in the new one (the present).”’ In the case of Simonopetra’s cathol-
icon the problem is if the above mentioned note gives us the date of the erection
of a completely new church or of the reconstruction of the Byzantine one, built by
Jovan Ugljesa, parts of which were also embodied in the new.

The case of Simonopetra is more complicated. The old wall-paintings survived
from the fire of 1891 are dated in the middle of the 16th century and could be iden-
tified either with those refurbished between 1527-1541 or with new ones painted
after the erection of a completely new catholicon in 1561/2. If we accept the at-
tribution of Simonopetra’s wall paintings by Toutos and Fousteris to the famous
artistic workshops of the Cretans painters Theophanes and Tzortzis or their stu-
dents on Mount Athos and given the fact that Tzortzis has painted the catholicon of
Docheiariou up to 1568, the today survived frescoes in Simonopetra could be dated
from between 1561 and 1568, and attributed specifically to Tzortzis. Theophanes’
first known work is the wall-paintings of the church of Saint Nicholas Anapafsas
in Meteora (1527), followed by those of the churches in Megiste Lavra (1534/5)
and Stavronikita (1545/6).%® The first known work of Tzortzis is the catholicon of
Dionysiou (1546/7) made under a sponsorship of the Moldavian Voevoda Peter
Rares (1527-1546). This work is undoubtedly attributed to him, because of written
evidences in the codex of the monastery.*

It is worth-mentioning that there is a strong tradition on Mount Athos that the places
regarded as sacred they have to be kept as such by the monks. Thus, the Abbot of
Simonopetra Neophytos (1861-1906) wrote that after the fire of 1891 the monks
wondered if they had to build the monastery at another more level place, but because
of the historical and venerable place (“14 16 ioTopKdV Ti|g Oécems Kai oefdoiov’)
this plan was not accepted.® In the case of Simonopetra Saint Simon’s vita gives
the information that the saint had built first a church and after the other buildings.
Therefore, it is more probable that the monks tried to keep the church in its first
place, where Saint Simon founded a small church, at the top of the rock, where it is
placed today. The same tradition maybe reflects loannis Komninos’ statement that
St. Simon built the church at the same place it was at Komninos’ times.*!

Due to the lack of written sources, it is difficult to find out the reason for the res-
toration of the catholicon in Simonopetra in 1561/1562 just thirty years after a

ktitorial names of Simonopetra, but only at the mentioned until now. The list of the names from
end of them and this registration must be attrib- ~ Wallachia is registered in fol. 6 under the title
uted to the dedication of her landed property to ,,Ovopata Ktitopikd kol GAA®V g0EPYETOV THG
the initial metochion of Saint Nicholas on the ‘Iepdg poviig tavTng™.

river Dampovitsa. We suppose that if a radical
rebuilding of the catholicon of Simonopetra
had occurred in 1561/2 by a great sponsor, he
would be mentioned until now as a new ktitor
of the monastery, as the other voevodas from 58 N. Toutos — G. Fousteris, Evretirion, 22.

Wallachia in other Athonite monasteries. But in 59 S. N. Kadas, Kodix leras Mones Dionysiou

Simonopetra’s tradition only Jovan Ugljesa is  4giou Orous 18"~19" ai., Agion Oros 1994, 120.
mentioned as a ktitor. I used a manuscript of the

57 P. Touliatos, lera mone Docheiariou Agiou
Orous: I architektonike tou katholikou kai tou
pyrgou, Athens 2009.

end of 19" (after 1891)-beginning of 20™ century
with lists of names which were mentioned in the
services of the monastery and most of them are

60 Codex B, p. 106.

61 See below the section: After the two fires:
Travelers’ account in the 18™ century.
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radical renovation of the church and the frescoes of the monastery. Moreover, it is
highly doubtful that the Ottoman authorities would give permission for building
a completely new church or even expanding an already existed, taking in account
that the Islamic law permitted only the restoration of an already existed church to
its former dimensions. Finally, I could not find any mention of earthquake or oth-
er physical or non-physical catastrophe that struck the peninsula and might have
devastating effects on the church of Simonopetra, which could provide the reason
for a permission of a rebuilding. As far as it is known, there was not happened any
serious earthquake on Mount Athos and the surrounding area during the 1540’s or
1550’s.9* Should the whole programme be undertaken by the monks themselves?
For this hypothesis speak the dynamism of the new brotherhood in 1520’s and the
supposed economic development of the monastery during the 16" century, without
having a specific ktitor.%

THE FIRE OF 1580

A turning point in the architectural history of the monastery during the Ottoman
period was the fire on the 11™ December, 1580, which burnt the entire mo-
nastic complex.®* For the damages caused by the fire, we learn from a letter
(oly\Mddeg) of the “Assembly” (Synaxis) of Mount Athos in 1580/1, issued
at the request of the hegumen of Simonopetra, Eugenios, in order to verify the
boundaries and the possessions of the monastery, since all monastic documents
were burnt.® The document underlined that although the walls of the monastery
had collapsed, only the church had not (novog yap 6 Oelog vaog Epetvev aprapng
¢ ol Tpeig Taideg &v Pécw pAoydV t@Vv Papfvimveiov). This was confirmed by
the letter of Patriarch Ieremias the 2™ (May 1581),% issued for verifying the fact
that the monks of Simonopetra undertook the administration of the monastery
of Xenophon and they paid back Xenophon’s debt amounted to 200,000 aspers.
This arrangement favoured both the monasteries: Simonopetra’s monks could
safely survive until they had their monastery renovated and Xenophon’s monks

62 See for example: V. Papazachos — K. Papa-
zachou, Oi seismoi tis Elladas, Thessaloniki
2002, 200-201. In 1564 an earthquake hap-
pened in Mount Athos, following by another in
1572. There is clear evidence that the church
of Docheiariou, which had rebuilt at the same
year with that of Simonopetra, was collapsed in
1553/4, but no reason is mentioned for this col-
lapse. See: S. Kadas, Ta semeiomata ton heiro-
graphon tis monis Dionysiou Agiou Orous, Agion
Oros 1996, 108 (no. 337): ,,’Etovg ,CER" [1554]
€mecev 0 mepkoilg vads tdv Ta&ipy(dv) ftet
00 Aoyv<a>piov &v unvr dexoupPpiov ke’
T0 goméplo TV dyiov Beweaviov 1fyovv tdV
x(proto)uyévev.

63 We mention that in the 1540°s Simonopetra
succeeded in re-possessing the metochion on
Limnos island, as the Ottoman documents show
(Archive of the monastery of Simonopetra
[hereafter: AMS], no. 176 [22 Ramazan
964/19.7.1557, in which the reference of mas-

sive purchases of pieces of land between 1540
and 1552). Moreover, the Simonopetrites suc-
ceeded in paying the debt of the Xenophontos
monastery in 1582, and only in 1587, probably
because of the great economic problems that
happened in the Ottoman Empire from the de-
valuation of the currency, they went to Wallachia
in order to ask for financial assistance.

64 To the known evidences on the date of
the fire, we add a marginal note in a Menaion
of Simonopetra, compiled by the hieromonk
Ravoula (S. N. Kadas, Ta simeiomata ton heiro-
grafon tou Agiou Orous. Moni Simonos Petras,
Byzantina 16 [1991], 271 [no. 34]).

65 D. Vamvakas, lera Moni Simonos Petras, no.
21. The patriarchal document that ratified the
decision of the Athonite Community (Synaxis)
makes no specific reference to the church. (D.
Vamvakas, op.cit., no. 1).

66 D. Vamvakas, lera Moni Simonos Petras, no. 2.



could repay their debts. The letter mentions the death of some monks from
the fire (10 tol0VTOV AKAUATOV VP ... KOL TIVAG TOV EVACKOVUEVOV UAPTLPAG
anexotéotnoegv). The information is similar to the document of the Synaxis:
while stressing the magnitude of the disaster (katépaye yop t0 TOp T THG
mETPOG TaVTNG Bepédia); to the extent that those rescued monks were prepared
to disperse due to the difficulties of the renovation, it was underlined separately
that the catholicon was the only building that survived (uévov tod @yiov vood
TEPIAELPOEVTOC Kal U TELEOV GLUTVIYEVTOG Kal ApovicBévioc m¢ To Aotmd, Kol
1oTaUEVOD MG 6TAAN ELEYXOVGO aimVing TV Kakioy ToD movnpod). Perhaps with
the phrase pn téleov cvumviyévrog kai apavicdévtog it is referred to the small
damage the doors and the windows suffered, as it is reported in the Ottoman
document issued later (see below).?’

The monks except for the ecclesiastical authorities, appealed to the state authorities
to declare the fact, to ensure property rights, and to obtain a written permission for
repair or reconstruction of buildings. It is known that Islamic law does not prohibit
non-Muslims in having their own places of worship, but when the issue concerns
the repair or construction of such buildings, there should be some preconditions for
the Muslim rulers to accept the requests. The Ottoman sultans adopted the general
principles applied in Islamic countries. Thus, the repair of churches was allowed if
the building pre-existed the Ottoman conquest of the city or region and if the city
or region was conquered peacefully and not by war. In the latter case, the Islamic
law provided for the demolition of non-Muslim religious buildings or for their
conversion into Islamic (e.g. mosques, mescids, medreses etc). A crucial precondi-
tion was the repair or reconstruction of non-Muslim worship building in the same
size and shape as before its destruction. Finally, the non-Muslim property should
be located away from an area inhabited by Muslims, so that it would not affect the
religious feelings of the Muslims.®®

These general preconditions were obviously not implemented in a systematic way
by the Ottoman authorities, as it was proven by the significant number of the ex
nihilo erected churches of the Ottoman period in the Balkans.® Corruption would
be an important factor in licensing repair of churches by the Ottoman authorities. It

67 Abbot Neophytos of Simonopetra, writing
after the fire of 1891, gives an explanation of the
survival of the church. He argues that the court-
yard of the monastery was not yet covered and
not continued with the church as it was in 1891,
when for this reason the church suffered a lot
by the fire (Codex B, p. 106: Tote 8év fjto g
glicdletat 10 TPOUVAIOV GKETOOUEVOV K(0d) HETh
TG EKKANGIaG cLVEXOUEVOV OG E0)ATMGS, Kol €&
ob &nade 1660V TOAD O VadQ).

68 The literature for the renovation or con-
struction of Christian cult buildings during the
Ottoman period is scanty, if we consider that the
extant archival material and the remnants of the
buildings are abundant. See: M. Kiel, Art and
Society of Bulgaria in the Turkish Period, Acev-
Maaotpiyt 1985, 184-205- R. Gradeva, Ottoman
Policy towards Christian Church Buildings,
Etudes Balkaniques 30/4 (1994), 14-36- J.C.

Alexander (Alexandropoulos), Ta othomanika
tourkika eggrafa tis leras Monis Dousikou: i moni
os ta mesa tou 16ou aiona. Prodromi anakoinosi,
Trikalina 14 (1994), 101-120; E. Kolovos, Nea
stoiheia gia tin istoria tou katholikou tis monis
Xiropotamou, Klironomia 29 (1997), 121-153;
R. Gradeva, On Zimmis and Church Buildings:
Four cases from Rumeli, in: E. Kermeli — O. Ozel
(eds), The Ottoman Empire: Myths, Realities and
‘Black Holes’. Contributions in Honour of Colin
Imber, Istanbul 2006, 203-237.

69 At first the Dutch historian M. Kiel observed
the fact for the Balkans and provided with many
examples (see previous note). Unfortunately,
while in the Greek peninsula a considerable
number of churches from that period exist, no
research project regarding the methodology and
the procedure followed for the construction of
such buildings has been undertaken yet.
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should also be noted that the Ottoman policy of construction or repair of non-Mus-
lim religious buildings were not consistent either in space or in time.

The licensing process of repair was not fixed, and in addition, we do not know it very
well in details. It is generally accepted that the local court was responsible for issuing
the relevant licenses after in situ examination. It is not clear what was preceded in this
process. The licensing procedure probably operated as follows: Christians subjects
and/or monks who wished to repair or rebuild a church applied to the Porte stating
the reason of the request for permission to repair and that the building meets the re-
quirements to be repaired, providing both legal opinion (fetva) by the law interpreter
(miifti) of the region. Then the Porte issued an order (firman) to the local judge (kadh),
which prescribes him to conduct an examination on the spot in order to determine
whether the preconditions for the repair are fulfilled, and to give the dimensions of the
building, in order not to exceed the dimensions for the renovated building. It followed
the examination on the spot by members of the local court and the issuance of the
permission, giving the dimensions of the building and its description.”

The particularity in the case of Simonopetra was that the monks sought to re-
pair the entire monastic complex and not just a building. The surviving Ottoman
documents of the monastery inform us about the process followed by the monks
and give precise information than the Greek sources on the status of the monas-
tic buildings after the fire. Thus, as we learn from the Ottoman documents, the
Simonopetrites sent their request to the sultan in order to issue an order (firman),
accompanying with a sacred legal opinion (fetva)’' to conduct examination on the
spot by the local court. Then, according to the order, members of the court con-
ducted research on the spot and found the remains of four walls of a house-shaped
castle in the middle of which a church was placed and all-around the rooms that
housed the monks, the place where they ate and, outside the complex, the stable for
animals, the houses of shepherds and workers, tanneries and rooms over the stable,
all burnt. The church was left untouched because it was made by stone and only the
wooden windows and the door had blown (keniselerinin aga¢dan olan kapulari ve
pencereleri yapub keniseleri kargir bina olmagint ates kargir olmayub zarar ey-
lememis bulunub).” This information is correct as emerges by the masonry of the
catholicon today, where stones are the main construction material. The informa-
tion of the Ottoman document coincides with the text of the letter of the Athonite

70 See for example: E. Kolovos, Nea stoiheia,
129-134.

71 The fetva that the monks had received, it
seems not to be preserved in the Ottoman ar-
chive of the monastery.

72 AMS, no. 60 (26 Saban 989/25.9.1581).
The firman has been preserved in its original
form (no. 4) and bears the date II Rebiytilevvel
989/15-24.4.1581. Under the same date anoth-
er firman with its copy has been preserved (nos.
5 and 6), with which the monks tried to protect
themselves from various local pretenders (ehl-i
orf taifesi), who on the occasion of the fire, ques-
tion the monastic estates, on the pretension that
the property belonged to monks who burnt in
the fire. Furthermore, the pretenders demanded

the “blood money” (dem i diyet) for those burnt
monks. A similar content bears the ferman no.
8 (25 Ramazan 1011/8.3.1603), whereas in the
ferman no. 15 (end of Receb 1028/4-13.7.1619),
which had been issued under the same demands,
it does refer that no monks burnt in the fire. This
information, thirty eight years after the fire, is
not true, since, according to the patriarchal doc-
ument of May, 1581, some monks were burnt
indeed. This information is probably given in
order to stop the various troubles to the monks.
The interesting point is that these firmans have
been promulgated on the occasion of the rise to
the throne of a new sultan. This is an indirect
testimony that the rebuilding of the monastery
has been finished during the reign of Murad 111
(1574-1595).



Community (Synaxis). Consequently, we conclude that the church was not given
permission to have it repaired, but only to put new windows and door. The text
makes no reference to the size of buildings, probably because the autopsy had to
do with the whole building complex of the monastery and not just of a building. It
1s not clear from the text, nor can be derived from other written sources, whether
and how much work was carried out in the church except from that which was per-
mitted. The practice of expanding the dimensions of churches after issuing a repair
license was a rather widespread phenomenon in the Ottoman period.” However, it
cannot be argued that the church was extended. Instead, what is important for the
history of the building is that after the fire of 1580 there was no reason (not even
officially licensed) to lead the monks at repair works in the church. In conclusion,
in the interval between the two fires neither the church was built, nor can it be
argued that it was repaired.

The texts of the imperial order (firman) and the relevant judicial document (hiiccet)
have an additional interest because they present the procedure and the justification
for authorized repair in Christian religious buildings by the Ottoman authorities.
So, according to the sultanic order, necessary preconditions for such permission
were: a) the pre-existence of the church; b) the conquest of the area peacefully
(sulhan); and c) the place of the church in an area inhabited by “infidels” (i.e.
Christians). Under these preconditions, the fetva could be applied, but even then,
it stressed in the firman, buildings should not be repaired in different dimensions
than those that were before their destruction. The Ottoman judge in response to
the conditions put forward by the firman, stressed: Mount Athos was a peninsula,
where they lived no one but the monks in twenty monasteries; the conqueror of
Thessaloniki and of the region, Sultan Murad II, gave some privileges to the pen-
insula (in 1430); furthermore, in the confiscation of Sultan Selim II (in 1569) the
monks re-purchased their properties and received relevant documents (miilkname
and vakifname). So, a) Muslims were not affected by such permission, b) the area
was not occupied by war, ¢) the monks were taxpayers of the state and legally
possessed these properties and d) the monasteries existed before the Ottoman con-
quest.”* After demonstrating the applicability of the conditions, the inspection on
the spot was carried out by the court and the damages the monastery suffered were
registered.

The importance of the document for the monastery can be deduced from the
fact that it has seven validations of judges of the local court of Siderokaphsia
(Sidrekapsi), a fact showing that the monastery was interested more than once
in confirming the content of the document. The identification of the judges who
ratified the document with those in other monastic documents gives a time spot
on when (and why?) the Simonopetrites ratified the document. Compiler of the
document was the kadi of Sidrekapsi Abdiilkerim son of Ali, who ratified the same
year two other Athonite documents as kadi.” Of the remaining ratifications of the
document of Simonopetra, in which the judges simply ratify the authenticity of the

73 See for example the case of the catholicon of
Dousiko monastery in Thessaly (J. C. Alexander
[Alexandropoulos], & othomanika tourkika eggra-
fa, 110-118). See also the case of the catholicon
of Xeropotamou monastery, built by Kaisarios
Dapontes (E. Kolovos, Nea stoiheia, 123 and 133).

74 Cf. similar preconditions that were analyzed
in a firman for Xeropotamou’s case (E. Kolovos,
Nea stoiheia, 130).

75 E. Kolovos, Horikoi kai monahoi stin oth-
omaniki Halkidiki, 150s—160s ai., v. 3: Ta oth-
omanika eggrafa tou arheiou tis Ieras Monis
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document, we can identify the following: a) Siileyman son of Pir Ahmed, kadi of
Sidrekapsi validates another Athonite document in 1588;” b) Abdiilkadir son of
Abdiilselam,”” molla of Sidrekapsi validates another Athonite document in 1590,
¢) Mehmed son of Hiiseyin, kadi of Sidrekapsi validates other two documents in
1583 and 1584;™ d) Ali son of Hact Hamza, kad: of Sidrekapsi validates other
five documents, but his own validation with no other is in 1587;% ¢) Ahmed son
of Abdulselam validates another document, but it is difficult to ascertain when he
was in the office of kad: of Sidrekapsi.?! Following the above, it becomes clear that
Simonopetrites rushed to ratify the repair permission for the buildings of the mon-
astery from all the judges who succeeded the judge who issued it. We assume that
this happened, because they wished to be protected from the interference of third
parties during the critical first decade after the fire and until the repair of buildings
was finished.

In fact, the main work of rebuilding the monastery of the fire had been completed
in about two years and the Simonopetrites had returned from the monastery of
Xenophon, as it is clear from the note in a manuscript (Mnvaiov), which was cop-
ied in Simonopetra at 1583 and reported the fire accident.®? This note shows that the
church operated normally and the production of liturgical codices for the monastery
needs continued. Considerable production of liturgical manuscripts written by the
bibliographer Cyril of Simonopetra during the five years 1585—-1590 strongly con-
firms this opinion.* Also, two Ottoman judicial documents in connection with the
debt of Xenophon monastery from a Jew in Thessaloniki show that the Simonopetrites

Xiropotamou. Epitomes 1439-1800, unpubl.
PhD diss., Aristotle University of Thessaloniki
2000 [hereafter: Xiropotamou], nos 155 and
156 (IIT Receb 989/21-30.8.1581). In both doc-
uments Mehmed son of Mustafa co-ratified as
molla and locus tenant of Sidrekapsi. The same
person appeared in other documents, but always
as molla.

76 Xiropotamou, no. 175 (I Muharrem 997/10—
19.11.1588). The other ratification in the document
is of Abdiirrahim son of Amr, molla of Selanik,
Karaferye and Sidrekapsi; this person is identified
in other Athonite documents of the 1580’s.

77 The patronym is not visible in the document,
because it is lacerated. The text is transferred
from the official Greek translation in the 1920’s.

78 Xiropotamou, no. 177 (I Rebiyiilahir 998/28.1—
6.2.1590).

79 Xiropotamou, no. 162 (12 Receb 991/22.
7.1583), together with other three officials;
A. Foti¢, Sveta Gora i Hilandar u osmanskom
carstvu, XV-XVII vek, Belgrade 2000, 247 (fig.)
(I Saban 992/29.7-7.8.1584).

80 Xiropotamou, nos. 123, 163, 170-172. In the
last document (19 Zilkade 995/11.10.1587) there
exists only his ratification, which means that at
least in this year he was kad: of Sidrekapsi.

81 A. Foti¢, Dispute between Chilandar and
Vatopedi over the Boundaries in Komitissa

(1500), in: lera Moni Vatopediou. Istoria kai
tehni, Athens 1999, 104 and 106. The document
issued in 1500, but from its nine ratifications it is
difficult to discern when they were dated and who
was the compiler of the document. Nevertheless,
the said judge, as it can be discerned from the
ratification of Chilandar’s document, was the
same with that of the Simonopetra document.

82 S. Lambros, Catalogue, 124, no. 1372/104;
S. N. Kadas, Simeiomata, 271: 'Etehei®0n 10
TopoOv umvoiov d1d xepog ‘Pafovia iepopovéyov
t0d ék TpudArov. "Etovg ,{Ma® (=1583). O 6¢
EUTPNGLOG THG HoVilg Tiig ToD Xipovog TTéTpag
véyovev ,{n0° Askepfpio 10" dpo " thg voKTOg
(1580). Eypdon 6¢ &v tf] avti] povi] dmep Kol
Ktipo ovtig vrdpyet. The manuscript had been
destroyed in the fire of 1891.

83 Cyril, in 1586, he copied a voluminous man-
uscript with Homilies. In 1587 he decorated a
two-volume Parakletike and in 1588-90 three
Menaia (see S. Lambros, Catalogue, nos. 46,
129, 130, 105, 110, 114; S.N. Kadas, op.cit.,
267, 271-2; Kr. Chrysochoidis, Heirografa, 297,
where he generally refers to the scriptorium that
operated in the monastery during the 16" c. In
the manuscript of 1586 a note exist that it was
compiled in Simonopetra, while in that of 1589,
Cyril noted that he had entered the monastery
as a normal coenobitic monk and that he writes
without getting money.



had returned in their repaired monastery by November 1582.3* If we consider that the
catholicon of Xeropotamou monastery was restored within three years, but with the
financial help of the governor of Moldavia, voevoda Alexander Lapousneanou,® it is
highly surprising the rapid restoration of buildings of the Simonopetra monastery. As
a matter of fact, the patriarchal document referring on the debt of Xenophon (on May
1581) indicates that it would be very difficult for the Simonopetrites to rebuild their
monastery due to the enormous expenses needed for it (d0okolov 1 Gvakmolg Kol
Gmopog 1j Kol ToAvdAmavog, 0 00 TOD TOPOVTOS KapoD TOGTV EVPEIV SUTAVIY, YELPOG
deopévny Pactkiic kai peyiomcg). In bibliography there is the opinion that to cover
the costs of the rebuild project the hegumen Eugenios fled to the Danube area and in
particular, in Wallachia, between 1587—1592, when he received among others the ma-
jor metochion there.® By the above mentioned Ottoman documents emerges that the
monastery was already repaired in 1582. The reason for this rapid rebuild was that, as
the two Ottoman documents explicitly state, some Simonopetrites gave the money for
the renovation of the monastery and the monks returned to the monastery. It seems that
during the period of this fire the monastery had financial sufficiency to pay the resto-
ration works and the debt of Xenophontos. Maybe the reason for this was also income
coming already from the rich metochion of Saint Nicholas in Wallachia. It cannot be
excluded that hegumen Eugenios went to Wallachia in order to strengthen the finances
of the monastery after these enormous expenses. During this travel the voevoda Peter
the Lame sponsored Simonopetra in 1587 with the sum of 5,400 aspers.*” In the same
period the metochion dedicated by Gheorma in Bucharest was at a very favourable fi-
nancial condition as the Patriarch Jeremiah II in 1591 characteristically notes: bmdpyet
evbuvodpevov te kai Bpibov movtoiolg dyafolg KivynToig te Kol AKvNToIg, |...], mAnost
TE APLEPOUEVOV AUTEMDV, YOPAPI®V, DOPOLOA®Y, YOPIMV TKUVMY PETA TRV &V 0TOIC
napoikwv Atyvrtiov (= Gypsies) kai GAA®V TOAADY QUAAOUEVOV TOTG TAEIOTOLG &V
TH Tpdg ¢ dALe topafécet. Eugenios achieved a dramatic improvement of this rich-
ness after the donation by Michael the Brave of the new better metochion, keeping also
the previous at the possession of Simonopetra.

In conclusion, the clear wording of the documents by the Athonite Community
and the Patriarchate in 1580-1581, in which there was no reason to hide the
truth, and which documents were confirmed by the Ottoman repair license doc-
uments, leads to the conclusion that the church was not destroyed in the fire of
1580 and only windows and the door had been repaired. The question is whether
with the repair processes of other buildings, the monks proceeded ‘implicitly’ in
extensive restoring works in the church itself. This was a practice of the monks
during the Ottoman period. However, based only on written sources we cannot
suggest anything more.

THE FIRE OF 1622

Less documented is the situation in the second major fire of the monastery, on June 8,
1622. The Codex of Simonopetra noted this incident as follows: .{pA” ev i iovvim
oteg 8 ékdt to povaotnpn Eepepovovtag to chfarto. o1 dpeg dote va Enuepdot Kol

84 AMS, no. 59 (Il Ramazan 989/9-19.10.1581)  23-24. See the relevant Greek documents in: D.
and no. 61 (IIT Sevval 990/17-26.11.1582) Vamvakas, Jera Moni Simonos Petras, nos 3-5.
85 E. Kolovos, Nea stoiheia, 128-9 and 135. 87 D. Nastase — Fl. Marineskou, Roumanika

86 For these see: C. Patrinelis, Tourkokratia, eggrafa, no. 76.
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andppno v kuprakin metnkootn.® Furthermore, the above-mentioned scriptor Cyril
records it, in 1626, “as a second arson” (£ypaen 0& HETA TOV dEVTEPOV EUTPNGUOV
TG povig ETog dedtepov, olov &v Etel {pAd’ [1626]. 0 8¢ dumpnoudg yéyovev &v Etel
{p’, and another hand has added later: " Tovviov " juépa ZaPPatw). The reason
for this fire was, according to the Ottoman repair license, lightning, a logical cause
given the fact that the monastery is placed on the top of a rock. This fire burned again
the entire monastic complex. Immediately after the incident, the Simonopetrites ran
to the Patriarchate to ratify the chrysobullon of Jovan Ugljesa through a document
(sigillium) of Cyril Loukaris.® This was issued to preserve the monastery by abuses
of land, and it had the same value with that taken by the Patriarchate in the fire of
1580. This was monks’ action to the ecclesiastical authorities. In between the two
fires, the monastery had managed to find a copy of the Ugljesa’s chrysobullon and
had surrendered it to the patriarchal secretariat for ratification.”

As in the previous fire, the Simonopetrites should hasten to secular authority in or-
der to obtain a license to repair the buildings. From surviving Ottoman documents,
we learn that six monks (priest Simeon, Arsenios, Sergios, Joachim, Procopios,
Zosimas) have requested the local court in Sidrekapsi to make an inspection on
the spot, in order to authorize the repair of the buildings destroyed by fire. From
a Greek document of 20.7.1625 we know that Simeon was abbot of Simonopetra
on this year.”! Arsenios also could be identified with the homonymous hegumen of
Simonopetra between 1629 and 1631 (see below). In a document of 1627 Simeon
is mentioned as former hegumen (wponyovuevoc),”? as he is also mentioned in a
letter of 1.9.1631, where Arsenios signs as hegumen.”® The last document is signed
by other sixteen monks. Among them is another Arsenios “monk and treasurer”
and the elders Sergios, Joachim, Zosimas, and “another Joachim”, who can be
identified with the three monks of the Ottoman document. Also Zosimas could be
identified with a certain Zosimas appeared as a treasurer in 1632.°* From the above
mentioned data we conclude that the priest Simeon of the Ottoman document was
probably the abbot of Simonopetra and Arsenios the second in the hierarchy.

From the autopsy conducted immediately after the fire it was proved that in this
fire, again, the church did not suffer serious damage, except for doors and windows
(kadimi kenisemizin kapilart ve pencereleri), as in the previous fire.”” The docu-
ment describes in details the buildings destroyed by fire and needed repair: the
rooms of the monks, the refectory, the kitchen, the tannery and the rooms above
this, warehouses, and guest houses (misafir haneleri). We note that in connec-
tion with the authorization of 1581 is not listed among buildings the stable and
the dwellings of the workers and shepherds, while they listed further the kitchen,
warehouses and guest houses.

88 Codex A, p. 14. 35-37 [nos 21-22]). Therefore, the appearance of
the document may not be connected with the fire

of 1622.

91 Codex A, pp. 286-287; D Vamvakas, lera
Moni Simonos Petras, no. 37.

89 D. Vamvakas, op. cit., no. 6.

90 As one can deduct from two patriarchal doc-
uments, housed in the Xeropotamou monastery
archive, the chrysobullon appeared in around

1615 and Simonopetra succeeded in getting val-
idation document from the Athonite Community;
this document the Patriarch accepted as authen-
tic (cf. P. Gounaridis, Arheio I. M. Xiropotamou.
Epitomes metavyzantinon eggrafon, Athens 1993,

92 D. Vamvakas, op.cit., no. 7.

93 Codex A, pp. 16-17.

94 Codex A, p. 19.

95 AMS, no. 95 (IIT Sevval 1031/28.8-6.9.1622).



Of the authentication signatures of the document the first one, Mehmed son of
Mustafa, deputy judge of Sidrekapsi, issued a letter in 1614,°° while the second
— Mehmed, kadi of Thessaloniki — ratifies documents in 1616, 1626 and 1627.%7
Finally, the third, sey2 Mehmed, kad: of Thessaloniki, ratifies a document in 1647.%
Although the prosopographical sample is poorer than in the case of the document
for the fire of 1580, it seems that again the Simonopetrites rushed immediately
after the license of the court to ratify the document from the judge of Thessaloniki.

Interesting is that the procedure followed by the monks was different from that
of 1580. According to the Ottoman documents of the monastic archive only one
firman survives for 1626 on the issue of the repair permission for the burnt build-
ings.”” The order is less formal than that of 1581 and confirms the permission doc-
ument of the court issued four years before, namely just after the fire (i.e. in 1622).
The sultanic order stresses only the prohibition in widening the buildings during
the reconstruction works, and included the text of the application of the monks to
the Porte, which was registered in the judicial document written four years earlier.
The monks rushed to seek money for the restoration works and the result of these
initiatives was the promulgation of a circular letter (dmavtayoboa) of the patriarch
Cyril I (Loukaris) in 1627, which recommends to the Greek-Orthodox community
of the pro-hegumen Simeon and monk Arsenios, who had gone to collect alms for
the rebuild of their monastery.'® According to the letter, the fire was catastroph-
ic (ta mielova TovTOL [TOL HovaosTNPIOV] Kol TO TTEPL AOTO KeAAiM NVOA®GE Kol
KaTeTEPPmaOeV), suggesting that the magnitude of the disaster did not differ much
from that of 1580. The monks at this time did not find refuge to another monastery,
but they find refuge in the tower of the harbor or in other small houses outside
monastery (ol v &v Toig mpo Th|g TOANG GUIKPOTATOLG OIKNLOGL, 01 O T) VE®PIM).

The very poor sample of Ottoman documents for this fire in the archive may be ac-
cidental. However, the strange fact is the issuance of the firman four years after the
in situ inspection and the permission given by the court. Probably it should have
issued a firman before, which was not survived. However, the judicial document
issued immediately after the fire than in the previous case. Taking into account
of this observation, should we see a change in the procedure? It seems probable
that the monks are now appealed directly to the local court, which conducted the
examination on the spot and immediately followed by the issuance of the imperial
decree in order to the judicial document be enforced. If the idea is correct, then we
are dealing with a decentralized policy of the Ottoman state on this issue, relating
to the general picture of decentralization, observable in the Ottoman Empire dur-
ing the 17th century.

The church in the judicial document was described as ‘old church’ and ‘big church’
(kenise-i kadim, kenise-i kebir). This of course does not mean that there was also
another new catholicon, because in this case the old would be smaller and would
not be described as “big”. In addition, the site of the monastery, which is extremely
limited due to the small surface of the rock, does not favour the hypothesis of the
existence of two catholica. Obviously, it seems that by the use of the designation
‘old’ the judges stated that the monastery was fulfilling the precondition of the

96 Xiropotamou, no. 233. 98 Agiou Pavlou’s Archive, P/6.

97 Xiropotamou, no. 239 and 277; Agiou Pavlou’s 99 AMS, no. 20 (14 Saban 1035/11.5.1626).
Archive, K/64 and K/71. 100 D. Vamvakas, lera Moni Simonos Petras, no. 7.
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pre-existence of the church in order to issue the authorization for its repair accord-
ing to the Islamic law. This of course does not exclude that the church was too
old. The designation “great” distinguishes clearly the church from other churches,
some of which appeared as small churches in the eyes of Muslim employees.'" It
is also known that the Russian monk and traveller Vasilij Barskij saw in the 18"
century four chapels within the monastery, of which St. Nicholas was cast in the
catholicon and had a dome on top, while St. George can be located beneath the
catholicon and both of them they could easily be considered small churches.!??

The almost identical picture of the church after two fires can be interpreted in two
ways: a) that things were exactly as they said the two Ottoman documents; b) that
the sentences reflect the general picture, but conceal cases of extensions or implied
works. We should not forget also that the painting works was not of interest to the
Ottoman authorities, and therefore one cannot find any reference in such docu-
ments. The general reference to buildings in the judicial document obeys the same
logic as the respective of 1581: they were many buildings and it was an overall
license for everything, without a detailed description of the buildings. Reasonably
there should be work in church over the windows and doors, but will not be strange
to the researcher if it would be discovered any additional works or extension to
the existing church. Nevertheless, we should remember that the list of buildings
burnt in two documents is not identical. This allow us to conclude, in conjunction
with the reference of the circular letter of 1627, that the monks stayed in the small
houses before the monastery gate and that the fire of 1622 did not had the same
devastating effects in the outbuildings as that of 1580.

Some information about the fire in 1622 and the restoration projects after that we
can draw from two letters of the monks of Simonopetra to the Tsar of Russia — and
first Tsar of the Romanov dynasty — Mihail Feodorovi¢ and his father, patriarch
of Moscow Philaretos (1619—1633), in 1630.!” In the first of these letters, the
monks asked for financial support of Tsar for tidying the church. After the monks
declared that their monastery was destroyed by fire which broke out night, with
the assistance of various Christians, rich or ordinary people were able to restore
the monastery. The only thing that they could not manage to do was to buy the
necessary sacred vessels and vestments for the commission of the liturgies. They
asked, finally, the Tsar to assist them. For the same purpose they sent to Moscow
Archimandrite Arsenios with the cellar lakovos and the protoekklesiarch Gabriel.
An interesting detail of the document is that the monks until 1630, year of issu-
ance of the document, had managed to reconstruct the monastery and to restore
the church (kai t0 povactiplov KoTeokevdotn kai 6 vaog dvexawvicOn). There is
a clear differentiation of the works they have done in the church with those done
for other buildings of the monastery. The same element exists in the letter from the
monks to the patriarch of Moscow (10 ka8’ fjudc povaosti(plov) kateckevacodn, 1
te ékkAnoia dvekawvictn), from whom they also asked its assistance in the tidying
of the church with sacred vessels and vestments. It seems that in most buildings

101 Cf. the reference to three churches inside 474, copied in the 17" c¢. Cf. Chrysochoidis,
monastery in the census of 1764/5 (see below):  4rheio. Ellinika eggrafa, 265. I use a type-writ-
one big and two small. ten copy of the letter kept in the Archive of
102 V. G. Barskij, Tu taxidia, 526. Technical Works, fol. “Restoration of catholi-

103 Patriarchal Library of Jerusalem, ms. no. con” in Simonopetra.



had radical or extensive remodeling and renovation works than in the church, the
extent of which we are not able to know. It is not impossible that the renovat-
ing works concerned the doors and windows that provided the Ottoman judicial
document. It seems possible that the twelve icons from Moscow, containing the
celebrating saints of each month (menologion), which saw loannis Komninos in
the right choir of the church in 1701, were the results of Tzar’s or Patriarch’s
correspondence to the applications of the monks of Simonopetra. Unfortunately
these icons burnt in the fire of 1891.

The next evidence related to the catholicon is an inscription survived on a marble
slab, now kept in the treasury of the monastery (ckevo@uAdkeiov) and refers to the
inauguration of a church of the Savour Jesus Christ in 1633, when hegumen was
Timotheos.!” The text is as follows:!%

“1633 — this divine and very holy church of our great and saviour Jesus Christ
inaugurated, when hieromonk Timotheos was hegumen... ”

XN INTASIA
STI¥ T 001 RKTIAT
MGNA® - ThETANY
KOOTIPA-HMON -1 &,/
HRNENEBION TAC Tl
10 6 ¢ 0V+1 CPOMONX
AAOXPON OTPOKTIC TN
A THAEF 6B Chi

(AXAD ENTA®QIA / CTI OYTOC O ®IOC KAI ITANTI / MOC NAOC TOY
METAAOY / KAI COTIPOC HMON [[HXOY XPIXTOY]/
HI'OYMENEBI'ONTAC TI/ MO®EOY IEPOMON[A]XOY /
AAOXPONOITPOKTICTIKI/ ®ITA(M A)AE TOY ETOYC MAK )

104 1. Komninos, Proskynitarion, 83.

105 Pl. Theocharidis, I arhitektoniki, 79 and n.
18 in p. 350, where the text of the inscription is
written and it is argued that it comes from the
catholicon. Patrinelis, footnoted Smyrnakis and
noted that the church had been painted in 1633,
when hegumen was Joasaph (Tourkokratia, 22).
A sketch of the inscription is reproduced in the

volume Simonopetra — Agion Oros, p. 383, fig.
46. Cf. G. Millet — J. Pargoire — L. Petit, Recueil
des inscriptions chrétiennes de I’Athos, leme
partie, Paris 1904, repr. ed. Thessaloniki 2004,
178 (no. 523).

106 See the description and the transcription of
the inscription from Pl. Theocharidis, / arhitek-
toniki, 350 no. 18 and illus. 46.
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The architect P1. Theocharidis argued that this “rather puzzling inscription proba-
bly originally from the catholicon appears to refer to the dedication of the church
in 1633, and states that the building had been erected some time before”. This
inscription, along of course with the architectural elements were decisive in dating
the church by this scholar in the early Tourkokratia.'"’

The first mention of the inscription was made by G. Smyrnakis in 1902, who
states: “On a foundation and cast-off plate we read that the catholicon was found-
ed in 1613, when hegumen was hieromonk Timotheos”. His contemporary monk,
Kosmas Vlachos (in 1903) notes that the inscription had just removed from the
church: “this church, small, simple, with a middle size dome, was erected in 1633,
when hegumen was Timotheos, as indicating the recently taken away marble in-
scription”. There is no doubt that the two authors referred to the same inscription,
but Smyrnakis had a typographical error in editing (16)13 instead of (16)31. It
is clear that both believed that the inscription was removed from the floor of the
church after the fire of 1891. This must be correct, because the dimensions of the
plaque of the inscription (43.5x43.5 cm) are exactly the same with another marble
plaque from the catholicon, which bears a vase with a flower in low relief and can
be identified with one of the five marbles described by Komnenos (16 8¢ dmicfev
avTod Exel HomEP PLOANY Tva Ké yapOeaia) and Barskij and supposed to be in the
middle of the floor of the church. For this reason is possible that the two plaques
come from the same phase of the building.!® Today the marble plaque with the
vase and the flower is kept in the entrance of the old eastern part of the monastery.

The main problem for the deciphering of the inscription is the phrase
nyovpevéPyovtag TypwoBéov. From a today lost inscription (see below), it is known
that in the same year (1633), the hegumen loasaph had painted the refectory burnt
in 1622. He had been hegumen certainly before August 6, 1633, when signed to an
entry in Codex A. The next known hegumens of the monastery is Joseph in 1640
with the treasurer (okevoevrog) Meletios and in 1644 again a monk Joasaph.'?”
A document of the monks dated 1.9.1631, which is copied to the Codex A,'° is
signed by the hegumen, monk Arsenios, the former hegumen Simeon and another
fifteen monks, but among them there is no Timotheos. Archimandrite Arsenios
referred to as head of the brethren (mpogot®g) in the two letters of 1630 to the Tsar
and the patriarch of Russia, and as hegumen in a dedicatory document of 1629.!"
In 1632 a certain Zosimas appears as a treasurer.''? Therefore, the only period
during which a Timotheos could be at the head was from 2.9.1631 to 5.8.1633 and
the above inscription could be attributed to the catholicon if he had built it in the
first half of 1633. It is also worth mentioning that in the first half of the 17" century
there was no monk named Timotheos in the Codex of the monastery, despite the
great number of registered names.

It should also be noted that questions arise for a formal inscription on the serious
conceptual problems found in the puzzling last two lines and the popular language
style (e.g. the use of the dialectal type nyovpevepyovtag instead of riyovpevevovtog,
evtaloott instead of evtagpidodn), in addition to the relatively great number of mis-
takes in orthography, which, however, it was not a rare phenomenon in that period.

107 Pl. Theocharidis, I arhitektoniki, 79. 110 D. Vamvakas, lera Moni Simonos Petras,

no. 41; Codex A, pp. 16-17.

108 PI. Theocharidis, I arhitektoniki, 79 and no. 18. )
111 D. Vamvakas, op. cit., no. 40.

109 Codex A, pp. 20, 26, 30. 112 Codex A, p. 19.



The omission of the name of the feast of Christ, which was dedicated to the church
of the inscription, further complicates the situation, because the name Church of
Christ the Saviour was common for churches of the “Transfiguration”, although it
was also used for the churches of the Nativity, which the catholicon of Simonopetra
was dedicated. The origin of the inscription from a chapel in the monastery should
probably be excluded, since neither within the four churches burnt in 1891 was
any of Jesus Christ the Saviour,'” nor to those reported by Barskij in 1744.** Even
if we accept that the inscription refers to the church, this does not prove that there
was a rebuilding in 1633, since the verb evtagidott can be simply referred to the
“interment” of the inauguration of the altar. The inauguration of a temple does not
necessarily follow a thorough rebuild, but it can happen after works of renovation.

Important information about projects that were carried out in the monastery during the
period 1622—1633 gives a Russian traveller of the 19" century, Archimandrite Porphyrij
Uspensky, who visited the monastery in 1845. In his descriptions, he states for the ca-
tholicon: “This church was neither dark nor light, it was all painted in the year 1633,
when the hegumen loasaph had the refectory painted, with his own expenses (inscrip-
tion). This painting has been blackened due to the passage of 212 years, so that it is
difficult to say something about its value. The Simonopetrites wish to renovate it”.**

Uspensky’s information on the painting of the refectory is accurate. It is confirmed
by the Codex of the monastery, since, in fact, the hegumen loasaph, appeared in
the inscription as a sponsor of the frescoes, signed on August 6, 1633 in an above
mentioned registration on Codex A."'® Furthermore, the Ottoman license document
in 1622 states that the refectory and the kitchen had burnt, and, supposedly, the
old painting of the refectory, if they ever existed, destroyed. Therefore, it was log-
ical that the hegumen loasaph undertook and completed this program in 1632-33.
Similarly accurate is Uspenskij’s information that the monks intended to renovate
the darkened frescoes; this work had been undertaken in 1858—1861 by painters
from the village Galatista, in Chalkidike (see below).

We cannot easily suggest that Uspenskij’s information on the decoration of
the church was accurate. Church’s painting, according to the Ottoman permis-
sion document of 1622, would have survived, since the church was not burnt.
Moreover, Uspenskij does not mention for the church any inscription, as does for
the refectory. Following the above, we consider it more likely that the Russian
Archimandrite, whose information was not always accurate, saw the inscription
of the refectory and influencing by this he argued that the frescoes of the church
were also of 1633. My point was further strengthened by the following data:

a. The time interval of 212 years is relatively short to justify the high browning of the
frescoes of the church, which, if they had been painted after the fire of 1622, would not
have been so damaged by the 1845. Certainly it is known that after the revolution of
1821 the Ottoman troops settled in Simonopetra, had removed the leaden roof of the
church and the refectory.!'” However, Uspenskij’s passage does not indicate damage to

113 The hegumen Neophytos (1861-1906) notes 115 P. Uspenskij, Ilepsoe uyitieuweciusie 6b
the chapels of St. George, St. Magdalini, St. Chara-  4@ouckie Monacimvipu u Cxuiiivt 6 1845 i00y, V.
lambos and the Archangels (Codex B, pp. 111-112). I, partI1, Kiev 1877, 142-3. See also: G. Millet —

114 The four chapels inside the monastery were: J. Pargoire — L. Petit, Recueil, 179 (no. 526).

of the Virgin Mary’s Dormition, of St. John the {16 Codex A, p. 20.
Forerunner, of St. George and of St. Nicholas.
See, Barskij, Ta taxidia, 526. 117 Codex B, pp. 88-89.
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the frescoes of the refectory. The information for blackened paintings would fit more
with those of 1561, which might have been darkened from both fires of 1580 and 1622.

b. The surviving old frescoes in the niches of the church are dated from the middle
of 16™ century.''®

c. The performance of the painting of both the church and the refectory in 163233
would have caused more difficulties, economical — even after the large renovated
projects that preceded it, and practical (to find at the same time two teams for
working in church and refectory).

In summary we argue that the sources at our disposal for the building projects after
the fire of 1622 did not allow us to suggest widespread destruction or reconstruc-
tion of the existing church. The sources inform us about a renovation, the degree of
which we do not know. Definitely the note in the Docheiariou manuscript no 115
and the frescoes of the altar dated in the middle of the 16" century testify that the
church and its frescoes are older than 1622 and they survived from the fire.

Here the primary sources concerning the construction of the church stop. The trav-
ellers’ accounts which describe the church are from a later period, when, admitted-
ly, they had not done works in the building.

AFTER THE TWO FIRES: TRAVELLERS’ ACCOUNT IN THE 18" CENTURY.

The doctor (ioatpo@ildcoog) loannis Komninos visited Mount Athos in 1698 and
left a brief description of the Simonopetra church."” He describes in detail the
five marble that were cross-shaped on the floor of the church at a higher level, he
underlined the spacious choirs (yopot), the twelve Russian icons in the right choir,
while he impressed by the brightness of the church. Komninos counted twenty two
windows on the north and south side of the church (eleven in each side?), while
the splint was based on two pillars. loannis Komnenos also states that St. Simon
built the church at the same place as it was in ca. 1700 and today (éxticev €ndvem
€lg éketvnv v dymAny m€tpav Vv EkkAnciov 0mod @aivetal Eog TG ONUEPOV).
Although the testimony has no historical value, however, it seems to reflect his
view or an oral tradition of the monastery that the church of the monastery was not
a new one and that it was always placed on the top of the rock.

In his two voyages to Mount Athos the Russian monk Vasilij Grigorovi¢ Barskij
gives interesting information on the church. In his first visit, in 1725-26, Barskij
observes that the church had a leaden roof, and it was richly decorated with fres-
coes. The catholicon connected to the cells, but was higher than those.'?° In his
comments in the text of Barskij, Pavlos Mylonas noted that the church sits atop
the rock of Simonopetra and he assumes that St. Simon first built a chapel and then
built the other buildings around it."””! In the second voyage, in 174445, Barskij
gives the most detailed description of the church.'” The Russian monk describes
the church to be crowned by three leaden domes — one of the nave and the other
two for the cast — made by stone, full of frescoes and in the interior stand iconos-
tasis in both choirs, as did Komninos half century ago, the chandelier, the flooring
and other utensils. He also gives, for the first time, the dimensions of the church:

118 N. Toutos — G. Fousteris, Evretirion, 365. 121 V. G. Barskij, op.cit., 200-201 (note 187).
119 1. Komnenos, Proskynitarion, 82—83. 122 V. G. Barskij, op.cit., 526.
120 V. G. Barskij, Ta taxidia, 146.



24 steps in length and 20 steps in width at the part of both choirs. Assuming that
the measurement was made by the external walls and 1 step equals 0.781 m (=
Byzantine step), then the dimensions of the church was 19 m (18.74) in length
and 15.5 m (15.62) in width. It is unclear whether Barskij included the apse of
the sanctuary in the length dimension. Barskij also noted that the church had 12
windows on each side, except those who are at the uppermost, six gates and he
gives the dimensions of the inner narthex (Ant): 8 steps in length and 20 in width
(6.25 x 15.5 m), which was relied on two pillars. The outer narthex is covered
by a flat wooden roof and bears no pillars. In conclusion the church without the
narthex was 25 m long and 15.5 m wide. The lack of relevant data from other
sources prevents the comparison of the numbers in order to see if in the period of
Barskij the form of the church had altered from that in the 16th century or earlier.

If we compare Barskij’s description, especially from the second visit, with that of
Komninos, we conclude that: even though the two descriptions came from a period
that no works took place in the church, the exonarthex probably did not exist in
1698, as well as a pair of windows in the church. Other differences are not men-
tioned. With the detailed description of Barskij we have a basis for the form of the
catholicon in the 18th century and perhaps in the past and we can compare it with
today’s form. We have to consider as certain that the church the two travellers saw
was that it had developed at least after the fire of 1622.

In a last source, in the detailed census carried out by the Ottoman state inside Mount
Athos in 1764/5, Simonopetra was registered with three churches, two small and one
large, all lead covered.'” It should be accepted as certain that the Ottomans registrars
recorded the church as the big one and two other chapels, unknown which, as the two
little ones. As we have already mentioned after the Greek revolution (1821) about sixty
Ottoman soldiers stationed at the monastery after the departing of the few monks, and
they did various casualties, among them they removed the leaden roof of the church
and of the refectory. It is known that between 1858 and 1861 a group of painters from
Galatista (Chalkidike) over painted the church frescoes,'?* and by the third fire in 1891,
which destroyed the church, there were no other construction works therein.

In the fire of 1891 was burnt the whole interior of the church with the frescoes
and remained only bare walls (ctacida, dpylepatikdg Opovog, ayoypoeia, TavTo
andAovto, Euevay yopva td teiyn / [1el0n] dhav tdv Toy@v N dyloypaeia),'?
except for the frescoes of the typikaria in the altar and Saint Avivos on a niche of the
northern wall beside the altar, which was used as armoir. All the objects, valuable or
not valuable, inside the church were burnt except for the reliquaries with the holy rel-
ics which were saved by the monks. Together with catholicon was burnt the library
of the monastery, placed on the upper floor of the /i#i. There is a description of the
old narthex of the church as it was before the fire by Abbot Neophytos. According
to it “the narthex of the church was previously low domed (témg youniog BoAwmtog)
and dark from above (cxotewvog Gvwbev)”, the catechumena, among them and the
library, with two domes phanaria (ué 500 £&&yovtag B6Aovg pavapia)”. After the fire
the /iti of the catholicon was rebuilt in the form and style it has today, with a central
dome (116 petepvOpicdn 6A0TEADS €ig Eva DYNAOV BOLov pavapt dg opdtar). '

123 ASM, no. 166 (suret-i defter). Archimandrite Serapheim and the painter, hiero-

124 A. Karambatakis, Galatista. Selides apo tin monk Makarios, is published.

istoria tis, Thessaloniki n.d., 72—83, where the 125 Codex B, pp. 121, 107.
contract between the hegumen of the monastery, 126 Codex B, p. 106. In the archive of the mon-
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CONCLUSIONS

Following the above analysis, the following phases of works in the church can
pointed out schematically.

TIME ARCHITECTURE

Construction of the first small church by
Saint Simon

PAINTING

Late 13" century

Construction of the catholicon by Jovan General painting under the

136571371 Ugljesa aegis of Jovan Ugljesa

Refurbishment of Ugljesa’s

ca. 1529-1535 Possible leaden culmination

frescoes
Restoration or rebuilding of the New painting by Tzortzis
1561/2-ca. 1565 catholicon (Cretan School)

1581-1583 Repair windows and doors

1622-1633 Repair windows and doors

16981744 Afldmon narthex and two opening

windows

“Renovation” of frescoes
by painters from Galatista

1858-1861 with the care of Abbot
Serapheim

1891 Great demolition of the catholicon by fire Disaster of the frescoes by

the fire

The limitations of the written sources, which can only archaeological and architec-
tural research verify or disprove, are: It is not possible to know if (and when) the
works of refurbished or new paintings took place, if there were stages in the painting,
and if there were stages (extensions length, width or height) to the original architec-
tural plan of the church. However, it is quite safe to draw the following conclusions:

a. In the period 15291535 survived the church of Ugljesa’s era with its frescoes.
b. In the decade of 1550—-1560, for an unknown reason the monks proceed to an
extended restoration or reconstruction of the church, ended up to 1561/1562 and
followed by a completely new painting, realized by the famous Cretan painter
Tzortzis, Theophanes’ student.

c. Information from written sources of the 16" century is sufficiently clear that the
church was not destroyed in the fires of 1580 and 1622.

d. Consequently, the final form of the church was given in 1561, but it is not clear
if any parts of the Byzantine catholicon were survived in this form.

e. The original paintings must have been on Ugljesa’s era, the second in the form of ren-
ovation in the period 1529—1535, a third around 1561/1562 and the last in 1858—1861.

The definitive answer to the arisen questions would give a systematic study of
paintings and architectural elements, with the help of laboratory methods to com-
bine the historical sources.

astery there is plenty of information about the which could be the subject of a separate study as
damages of the fire in the church, lists of the it is beyond of the purpose of the present study.
burnt utensils, priest vestments, treasures etc.,



NCTOPUIJA KATOJIMKOHA ATOHCKOI' MAHACTUPA
CHUMOHOIIETPE 0 XIX BEKA ITPEMA IIMCAHUM N3BOPUMA

Hcropuja karonrkoHa aTOHCKOT MaHacTHpa CHMOHOTIETpE TIOHOBO je TIpeTpeceHa
Y CBETJIOCTH CTapHX 00jaB/bCHHUX, U HOBUX MTMCAHUX M3BOPA HACTAIMX JI0 [TOYETKA
XIX Beka. KarommkoH je y MOTIYHOCTH YHUINTEH y TIOXKapy KOjU je W30HO
1891. romune. Hberos camammu W3 HE OATOBapa OHOM M3 MPETXOMHHX (asza
M3rpaamu 1 00HOBa. MHOIITBO HcTOpHjcKe rpal)e (TOKyMeHTH, ITMcMa, 3aIlucH Ha
pyKOMHCHMA, HATITUCH | ITyTOMUCHE Oelelke), BehHHOM MO3HATe HAyIH, TOHOBO
Cy IperielaHu Kako OM ce MOHY/IIIa HOBa, JIpyraduja HHTEpIIpeTalrja mojaraka.
3akJbydIy KOjHU Clielie TIoCIe JIeTajbHe aHanu3e, jecy cienehu:

a) Y pa3no6spy o 1529. no 1535. ronune joun je mocrojasia npksBa u3 100a aecrora
Jomana Yripeme, ca cBuUM (peckama.

0) Cpenunom X VI Beka, y nenenuju uzmely 1550. u 1560. roqune, u3 Henmo3Haror
pasiora, MOHacH Cy ce MoJyXxBaTHiK OOMMHE pecTaypaluje 1 00HOBE IPKBE,
3aBpiieHe Herne 1561/62, mocie Koje je yciaeauna KOMIUIETHa 0OHOBa — HOBO
OCITMKaBame JKUBOIMHCA, PYKOM TIO3HATOT KPUTCKOT yMeTHWKa J[3opm3mca,
TeodanoBor yueHuka.

B) Ilomarnu 3 nucannx n3Bopa u3 X VI Beka jacHo yka3yjy Aa pKBa HAje YHUIIITCHA
y noxapuma u3 1580. u 1622. roguse.

r) CiencTBeHO TOMe, 3aBPITHH U3ITIE IIPKBE natupa ce y 1561. romnHe, Manaa HUje
CacBHMM CHUTYPHO Jia Ji ¢y ojipeheHn nenoBu YribelrHe IpKBe MPEKUBEIN TY
OOHOBY.

n) [loueTHn *xuBOMHUC je cBakako 6o u3 1o0a gecriora Joana Yripemie. [lotom je
OCIIMKaH JpyTH, U3 nepuoaa ooHoBe 15291535, ma tpehu, oxo 1561/62, u Ha
KOHILy nocieamu u3 1858—1861. rogune.

DOKHMOH KOUAI'EOPTMC
—MOHAX KO3MA
CHUMOHOITIETPUT
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NOTE IN THE DOCHEIARIOU MANUSCRIPT NO. 115
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SKETCH OF SIMONOPETRA (V. BARSKIJ, 1744-5)
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